# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA

#### LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

No. 20-0871

JEFFERY A. DAVIS,

Respondent.



#### BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti [Bar No. 8806] Chief Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel rfcipoletti@wvodc.org Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel City Center East, Suite 1200C 4700 MacCorkle Avenue SE Charleston, West Virginia 25304 (304) 558-7999 (304) 558-4015 – facsimile

###

I.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
II.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT			
III.	STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION			
IV.	FINDINGS OF FACT AND VIOLATIONS OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT			
V.	STANDARD OF REVIEW			
VI.	DISC A.	CUSSION		
	В.	the legal system, and to the legal profession		
	C.	The amount of real injury is great		
	D.	The existence of any aggravating factors		
	E.	The existence of any mitigating factors		
V.	RECOMMENDED SANCTION BY THE			
	HEA	RING PANEL SUBCOMMITTEE		

#0090064.WPD -11-

## TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

### Cases:

Committee on Legal Ethics v. Blair	
174 W.Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984)	
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Karl	
192 W.Va. 23, 449 S.E.2d 277 (1994)	
Committee on Legal Ethics v. McCorkle	
192 W.Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994)	
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Morton	
186 W.Va. 43, 410 S.E.2d 279 (1991)	
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Tatterson	
173 W.Va. 613, 319 S.E.2d 381 (1984)	
Committee on Legal Ethics v. Walker	
178 W.Va. 150, 358 S.E.2d 234 (1987)	
Daily Gazette v. Committee on Legal Ethics	
174 W.Va. 359, 326 S.E.2d 705 (1984)	
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Cunningham	
195 W.Va. 27, 464 S.E.2d 181 (1995)	
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Burgess	
No. 23030 (W.Va. 4/25/96)(unreported)	
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Davis	
No. 18-0640 (W.Va. 6/10/19)(unreported)	
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Farber	
No. 32598 (W.Va. 1/26/06)(unreported)	
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Gerlach	
No. 14-0725 (W.Va. 4/7/15)(unreported)	
Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Gerlach	
No.17-0869 (W.Va. 4/11/19)(unreported)	

Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Grafton
	No. 33153 (W.Va. 11/20/07)(unreported)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Grafton
	227 W.Va. 579, 712 S.E.2d 488 (2011)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Hardison
	205 W.Va. 344, 518 S.E.2d 101 (1999)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Hart
	No. 33328 (W.Va. 9/13/07)(unreported)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Hart
	235 W.VA. 523, 775 S.E.2d 75 (2015)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Hart
	241 W.VA. 69, 818 S.E.2d 895 (2018)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Holmstrand
	No. 22523 (W.Va. 5/30/96)(unreported)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. McGraw
	194 W.Va. 788, 461 S.E.2d 850 (1995)
Lawy	er Disciplinary Board v. Morgan
	228 W.Va. 114, 717 S.E.2d 898 (2011)
Lawye	er Disciplinary Board v. Palmer
	238 W.Va. 688, 798 S.E.2d 610 (2017)
Lawye	er Disciplinary Board v. Phalen
	No. 11-1746 (W.Va. 11/14/12)(unreported)
Lawye	er Disciplinary Board v. Rossi
	234 W.Va. 675, 769 S.E.2d 464 (2015)
Lawye	er Disciplinary Board v. Scott
	213 W.Va. 209, 579 S.E.2d 550 (2003)
Lawye	er Disciplinary Board v. Sturm
	237 W.Va. 115, 785 S.E.2d 821 (2016)

a0090064.WPD -iV-

Lawyer Disciplinary Board	l v. Sullivan 0 S.E.2d 55 (2013)	
Lawyer Disciplinary Board		
192 W.Va. 139, 45	1 S.E.2d 440 (1994)	
Office of Disciplinary Cou		
204 W.Va. 495, 51	3 S.E.2d. 722 (1998)9, 10	
Roark v. Lawyer Disciplina	ary Board	
207 W.Va. 181, 49	5 S.E.2d 552 (1997)	
West Virginia Statutes an	nd Rules:	
R. of Appellate Proc.	Rule 19	
R. of Criminal Proc.	Rule 35(b)	
n r -	Rule 3.7	
R. Law Disc. Proc.	Rule 3.79	
R. Law Disc. Proc.	Rule 3.15	
R. Law Disc. Proc.	Rule 3.16	
R. Law Disc. Proc.	Rule 3.28	
R. Law Disc. Proc.	Rule 3.28(a)	
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.3	
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.4	
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.4(a)	
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.4(b)	
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.5	
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.5(b)	
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.8	

40090064,WPD -V-

R. Professional Conduct	Rule 1.16			
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 3.2			
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 3.3			
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 4.1			
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 8.1(b)			
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 8.4			
R. Professional Conduct	Rule 8.4(d)			
Other:				
ABA Model Standards for	Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, § 4.42			
ABA Model Standards for l	Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, § 7.2			
ABA Model Standards for l	Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, § 9.21			
ABA Model Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, § 9.31				

a0090064.WPD -V1-

#### I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Formal charges were filed against Jeffery A. Davis (hereinafter "Respondent") with the Clerk of the Supreme Court of Appeals on or about November 4, 2020, and served upon Respondent via certified mail by the Clerk on November 12, 2020. Disciplinary Counsel filed her mandatory discovery on or about December 2, 2020. Respondent provided his Answer to the Statement of Charges on or about December 12, 2020<sup>1</sup>. Respondent failed to provide his mandatory discovery, which was due on or before January 4, 2021. Disciplinary Counsel then filed a "Motion to Exclude Testimony of Witnesses And Documentary Evidence or Testimony of Mitigating Factors" on January 27, 2021. On February 10, 2021, Respondent sent his "Response to Motion to Exclude Testimony of Witnesses and Documentary Evidence or Testimony of Mitigating Factors" asserting that his witnesses and evidence was the same as that provided by Office of Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel. A telephonic prehearing was held on February 19, 2021, wherein the Hearing Panel Subcommittee granted ODC's motion. However, the HPS ruled that Respondent would be allowed to question ODC's witnesses and present his own testimony. Lastly, as a conflict arose for a Panel member for the March 5, 2021 hearing date, Respondent waived the 120 day deadline to hold the hearing and the same was rescheduled for April 14, 2021.

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Charleston, West Virginia, on April 14, 2021.

The HPS was comprised of Rhonda L. Harsh, Esquire, Chairperson; Gail T. Henderson Staples,

1

a0090064,WPD

On or about April 7, 2021, Chairperson of the HPS, advised ODC that she had not received Respondent's Answer to the State of Charges. ODC contacted the Clerk of the this Honorable Court, who advised that Respondent had not filed the Answer. Respondent was advised at the April 8, 2021 hearing of his failure to properly file and serve his pleading. On or about June 24, 2021, ODC again contacted the Clerk of this Honorable Court and was again advised that Respondent's Answer had not been filed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> On June 24, 2021, the Response to Motion to Exclude had not been filed at the Clerk's Office.

Esquire; and Loretta Sites, Layperson. Jessica H. Donahue Rhodes, Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf of ODC. Respondent appeared *pro se*. The HPS heard testimony from Luanne Rucker, Denver Rucker and Respondent. In addition, ODC Exhibits 1-21 and Joint Exhibit 1 were admitted into evidence.

On or about July 22, 2021, the HPS filed its "Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee" with the Supreme Court. The HPS properly found that the evidence established that Respondent violated Rules 1.3, 1.4, 1.5(b), 8.1(b) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and recommended amongst other sanctions that Respondent's license to practice law be suspended for six (6) months. On about August 16, 2021, Respondent filed an objection to the HPS recommendation.

By Order entered August 17, 2021, the Court set forth a briefing schedule and ordered this matter set for oral argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

#### II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The HPS correctly found that Respondent violated Rules 1.3, 1.4, 1.5(b), 8.1(b) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and recommended amongst other sanctions that Respondent's license to practice law be suspended for six (6) months. There is no error in the HPS's findings of fact or conclusions of law and ODC agrees with the recommendation by the HPS as to the sanction. The ODC asserts that the sanction proposed by the HPS are adequate considering the clear and convincing evidence against Respondent, and the injury created by the misconduct of Respondent. In ordering such a sanction in this lawyer disciplinary proceeding, this Honorable Court will serve its goals of protecting the public, reassuring the public as to the reliability and integrity of attorneys,

±0090064,WPD 2

and safeguarding the administration of justice; and not just as punishment to Respondent. See Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Taylor, 192 W.Va. 139, 451 S.E.2d 440 (1994).

# III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, this Honorable Court's Order set this matter for oral argument and will be heard in the January 2022 Term of Court.

#### IV. FINDINGS OF FACT AND VIOLATIONS OF THE RULES OF PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT

On or about November 7, 2017, Denver Rucker (hereinafter "Complainant") was indicted for manufacturing a Schedule I controlled substance; three counts wanton endangerment with a firearm; use or presentation of a firearm during commission of a felony; illegal possession of destructive devices, explosive materials or incendiary devices; four counts of causing death or injury; and four counts of wanton endangerment involving destructive devices, explosive materials or incendiary devices in the Clay County Circuit Court, Case No. 17-F-44. [ODC Exhibit 15 Bates 151-155]

On or about November 14, 2017, an arraignment hearing was held in Complainant's case, and Respondent represented him as his counsel. [ODC Exhibit 15 Bates 178-179] On or about February 7, 2018, Complainant entered a guilty plea to manufacturing a Schedule I controlled substance, one count of wanton endangerment with a firearm, and one count of wanton endangerment involving destructive devices, explosive materials or incendiary devices. The remaining counts were dismissed pursuant to the plea agreement.

On or about March 19, 2018, Complainant was sentenced to one to five years for manufacturing a Schedule I controlled substance, five years for wanton endangerment with a firearm,

a0090064.WPD

and two to ten years for wanton endangerment involving destructive devices, explosive materials or incendiary devices. Complainant's time served at sentencing was 580 days. The sentencing Order noted that Complainant was advised on his right to appeal.

On or about October 16, 2018, Complainant sent a letter to the Clay County Circuit Clerk and asked if Respondent had filed a motion for reconsideration and requested a copy of the motion, along with the docket sheet. [ODC Exhibit 15 Bates 189] The letter also noted that communication had broken down between Complainant and Respondent.

On or about December 6, 2018, Complainant filed an ethics complaint against Respondent and alleged Respondent had failed to provide his client file after Complainant requested the client file. [ODC Exhibit 1 Bates 2-3] Complainant provided a copy of an October 23, 2018 letter from Complainant to Respondent about his failure to file a motion for reconsideration and to file for the return of Complainant's property and non-contraband items. [ODC Exhibit 1 Bates 3] Contrary to Respondent's representations to Complainant's wife, the docket sheet did not reflect that Respondent had filed the motions. The letter also requested a copy of the client file.

On or about January 14, 2019, Respondent filed a response to the ethics complaint and stated he was retained to represent Complainant for the indictment and that the case was resolved by the plea agreement. Respondent said Complainant was denied any alternative sentence and was sentenced to the penitentiary. Respondent stated that he spoke with Complainant and his wife about a motion for reconsideration and the return of items of personal property that were seized during the arrest. Respondent noted Complainant was in poor health due to the explosion that resulted in some of his felony charges. Respondent said he did not have direct contact with Complainant after the

₃0090064.WPD 4

sentencing hearing, but spoke with his wife on a weekly basis about a possible motion for reconsideration and the return of personal property. [ODC Exhibit 3]

Respondent stated he received a letter in October of 2018 that was purportedly from Complainant requesting his client file. [ODC Exhibit 3 Bates 6-7] Respondent said he had been in contact with the Clay County Prosecutor's Office about the return of the personal property, and they were trying to correlate the return of the property, but the state police commander was on leave. Respondent stated that Complainant's wife advised him that Complainant's health had declined and he was in the hospital. Respondent said he "decided that a Motion for compassionate release based upon his health issues was a better option than a Motion to Reconsider." Respondent indicated that he was not in a rush to send Complainant his client file because he wanted to finish the motion and to retrieve Complainant's property.

On or about March 5, 2019, Complainant filed a reply and stated that Respondent was not available when Complainant's wife attempted to return his telephone calls. Complainant said his wife was told that Respondent would return the telephone call, but that never happened. Complainant stated he still had not received his client file, and believed Respondent could make a copy of the client file in order to keep working on the case and return the file to Complainant. Complainant denied being provided a copy of the Motion for Compassionate Release. [ODC Exhibit 6 Bates 14]

On or about April 10, 2019, Respondent filed a "Motion," which stated that Complainant was "suffering from AFib, congestive heart failure, and most recently lung cancer. Due to the recent diagnosis and treatment for the aforementioned lung cancer, [Complainant] must undergo surgery." The Motion requested the court to reduce or modify the sentence against Complainant. [ODC Exhibit 15 Bates 192-193]

a0090064 WPD 5

On or about April 11, 2019, the Clay County Circuit Court denied the Motion based upon the motion not being timely filed as required by Rule 35(b)<sup>3</sup> of the West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure. Further, it stated the Court had previously denied Complainant's motion to reconsider.

[ODC Exhibit 15 Bates 190]

On or about June 21, 2019, Respondent sent correspondence to Disciplinary Counsel indicating that Complainant's client file had been sent to Complainant. Also, on or about June 21, 2019, Respondent sent correspondence to Complainant informing him that the Clay County Circuit Court had denied his Motion without a hearing. Respondent stated in the letter that he filed the motion due to medical conditions that arose after the 120 day time limit required by Rule 35(b). [ODC Exhibit 10 Bates 36-37]

On or about June 30, 2019, the Clay County Circuit Court entered an Amended Order Denying Motion to Reconsider Sentence, stating that the April 11, 2019 Order "erroneously set forth that a motion to reconsider had been previously filed, . . ." [ODC Exhibit 15 Bates 194-195]

On or about July 1, 2019, Disciplinary Counsel sent Complainant a letter asking if he signed a retainer agreement with Respondent and, if so, to provide a copy of the same. Further, Complainant

Rule 35. Correction or reduction of sentence.

Correction of sentence. - The court may correct an illegal sentence at any time and may correct a sentence imposed in an illegal manner within the time period provided herein for the reduction of sentence.

Reduction of sentence. — A motion to reduce a sentence may be made, or the court may reduce a sentence without motion within 120 days after the sentence is imposed or probation is revoked, or within 120 days after the entry of a mandate by the supreme court of appeals upon affirmance of a judgment of a conviction or probation revocation or the entry of an order by the supreme court of appeals dismissing or rejecting a petition for appeal of a judgment of a conviction or probation revocation. The court shall determine the motion within a reasonable time. Changing a sentence from a sentence of incarceration to a grant of probation shall constitute a permissible reduction of sentence under this subdivision.

a0090064,WPD

West Virginia Rules of Criminal Procedure.

was asked if he received the property and contraband items that he wanted Respondent to file to recover for him. [ODC Exhibit 11 Bates 87]

On or about July 17, 2019, Complainant advised that Respondent was going to file for a return of property and non-contraband motion with the court, but failed to do so. [ODC Exhibit 12 Bates 96]

On or about July 22, 2019, Disciplinary Counsel wrote to Complainant asking if he recalled signing a retainer agreement with Respondent. [ODC Exhibit 13 Bates 148] On the same date, ODC also inquired of Respondent if he had a written fee agreement with Complainant, and to provide a copy of it if one existed, or to explain why there was not a fee agreement. [ODC 14 Exhibit 14 Bates 149]

On or about July 24, 2019, Complainant provided receipts for Respondent's representation of him. One receipt was dated February 15, 2017, and was for \$1,000.00. The second receipt was dated January 11, 2018, and was for \$6,000.00. Below the copy of the two receipts was a hand written note saying "no written agreement." Complainant also provided a copy of a recent news article that noted Respondent had been suspended 30 days on June 17, 2019. [ODC Exhibit 16 Bates 198]

Respondent failed to respond to Disciplinary Counsel's July 22, 2019 letter. [ODC Exhibit 17 Bates 199] Another letter was sent to Respondent on or about August 27, 2019, by certified and regular mail, and requested a response by September 5, 2019. Respondent signed the green card, and it was returned to ODC on August 30, 2019. [ODC Exhibit 17 Bates 200]

On or about September 4, 2019, Respondent filed a response, noting that he mailed Complainant the entire client file, less his personal notes. Respondent could not locate an

40090064.WPD 7

employment contract, even after searching his office. Respondent stated he remembered the contract had been signed by Complainant and his wife while Complainant was hospitalized. Respondent provided a blank contract that he would have used in that kind of case. [ODC Exhibit 18 Bates 202]

After an evidentiary hearing, the HPS properly found that Respondent's conduct violated the Rules of Professional Conduct. The HPS conclusions of law are based upon the record presented and are fully supported by the clear and convincing standard. The HPS found that Respondent failed to timely file a motion for reconsideration and motion to return property for Complainant, in violation of Rules 1.3 and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The HPS found that Respondent failed to communicate with Complainant about the Motion to reconsider, in violation of Rule 1.4 of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The HPS found that Respondent failed to reduce his fee to writing in violation of Rule 1.5(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Respondent failed to respond to ODC, in violation of Rule 8.1(b) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. [HPS Report 9-11]

#### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In lawyer disciplinary matters, a *de novo* standard of review applies to questions of law, questions of application of the law to the facts, and questions of appropriate sanction to be imposed.

Roark v. Lawyer Disciplinary Board, 207 W. Va. 181, 495 S.E.2d 552 (1997); Committee on Legal Ethics v. McCorkle, 192 W. Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994). The Supreme Court of Appeals gives respectful consideration to the Lawyer Disciplinary Board's recommendations as to questions of law and the appropriate sanction, while ultimately exercising its own independent judgment. McCorkle, 192 W. Va. at 290, 452 S.E.2d at 381.

Substantial deference is to be given to the Lawyer Disciplinary Board's findings of fact unless the findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record.

a0090064:WPD

McCorkle, Id.; Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. Cunningham, 195 W. Va. 27, 464 S.E.2d 181 (1995). At the Supreme Court level, "[t]he burden is on the attorney at law to show that the factual findings are not supported by reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole adjudicatory record made before the Board." Cunningham, 464 S.E.2d at 189; McCorkle, 192 W. Va. at 290, 452 S.E.2d at 381.

The charges against an attorney must be proven by clear and convincing evidence pursuant to Rule 3.7 of the Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure. See, Syl. Pt. 1, Lawyer Disciplinary Board v. McGraw, 194 W. Va. 788, 461 S.E.2d 850 (1995).

The Supreme Court of Appeals is the final arbiter of formal legal ethic charges and must make the ultimate decisions about public reprimands, suspensions or annulments of attorneys' licenses to practice law. Syl. Pt. 3, Committee on Legal Ethics v. Blair, 174 W.Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984); Syl. Pt. 7, Committee on Legal Ethics v. Karl, 192 W.Va. 23, 449 S.E.2d 277 (1994).

#### VI. DISCUSSION

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