DO NOT REMOVE





LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD,

Petitioner,

FILE GOPY

Vs. No. 20-0871

JEFFERY A. DAVIS,

Respondent.

RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF THE LAWYER DISCIPLINARY BOARD

Jeffery A. Davis (WVSB#6247)
Attorney at Law
Respondent
225 Main Street
Spencer, West Virginia 25276
304-927-2200 – Phone
304-927-2212 – Fax
jeffdavisattorneyatlaw@gmail.com

Í.

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

the Office of Disciplinary Counsel and the Respondent appeared pro se. Denver Rucker and his wife Luanne Rucker testified.

On July 22, 2021, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee issued its report. The Subcommittee found that Respondent had violated Rules 1.3, 1.4, 1.5(b), 8.1(b) and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct. The Subcommittee recommended that Respondent's license to practice law be suspended for a period of six months. Respondent filed an objection to the findings on August 16, 2021.

The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals entered a scheduling order in this matter and set the matter for oral argument during the January 2022 term.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent asserts that the Hearing Panel Subcommittee was in error in their findings that Respondent violated the Rules of Professional Conduct. Further, that the recommended sanction of a six month suspension was excessive under the circumstances. Respondent asserts that there was no injury created to Mr. Rucker by the actions and inactions of Respondent. Mr. Rucker's only complaint at the aforementioned hearing being that he wished he had not pled to the felony charges in his case.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

This Honorable Court in its scheduling order has set oral argument in this matter for the January 2022 term of said Court pursuant to Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure.

V. ARGUMENT

FACTS OF THE CASE

On or about November 7, 2017, Denver Rucker, the Complainant herein, was indicted for manufacturing a controlled substance, three counts of wanton endangerment with a firearm, use

or presentment of a firearm during the commission of a felony, illegal possession of destructive explosive materials, four counts of causing death or injury, and four counts of wanton endangerment with an explosive device. This indictment was Clay County Circuit Court Case Number 17-F-44.

The complainant was arraigned on November 14, 2017 and Respondent represented said complainant. On February 7, 2018, complainant pled guilty to manufacturing a controlled substance, one count of wanton endangerment with a firearm, and one count of wanton endangerment with an explosive device. The other counts of the indictment were dismissed as part of the plea agreement in the matter.

On March 19, 2018, complainant was sentenced before the Honorable Judge Jack Alsop, Clay County Circuit Judge. Complainant received one to five years for the charge of manufacturing a controlled substance. Complainant received five years for the wanton endangerment with a firearm charge. Complainant received two to ten years for the wanton endangerment with an explosive device charge. Complainant was given credit for 580 days served.

During the majority of the underlying case, complainant was hospitalized due to the explosion in which he eventually pled guilty. For the first few months, complainant was in an induced coma due to severe burns. As a result, Respondent corresponded by telephone and in person with complainant's wife, Luanne Rucker.

On October 23, 2018, Mr. Rucker requested Respondent to file a Motion to Reconsider the Sentence under Rule 35(b) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure, obtain the return of certain items of personal property and the relinquishment of his file. [ODC Exhibit 1 Bates 3]

Respondent was of the opinion based upon his experience with the Court, that a 35(b) Motion

would not be successful. The Court at sentencing was very stern with complainant. The victims of the underlying case were West Virginia State Police. Therefore, Respondent was of the opinion that a Motion to Reconsider would be frivolous and discussed the matter with Ms. Rucker who relayed the same to complainant.

In discussions with Ms. Rucker, Respondent with the consent of Mr. Rucker, decided that a Motion for Compassionate Release was a better option than a Motion to Reconsider. This decision was based upon complainant's many medical conditions.

Regarding the return of property, Respondent spoke with the Prosecuting Attorney and was told that certain items, including a lap top computer, was still being investigated.

Respondent knew that a Motion for the Return of said Items would not be successful under those circumstances. The State could legitimately hold those items seized as long as an investigation was ongoing.

With regard to the client file, the only items in said file was the original criminal complaint, a copy of the indictment, the police report and any orders that had been entered. All the materials in said file was provided as they came into the office. The "client file" was a collection of materials already provided. Ms. Rucker came to the office on a weekly basis and was provided whatever materials Respondent possessed at the time. Further, the letter of October 23, 2018 requested "a relinquishment of the file" "insomuch as our attorney/client relationship may be at an end." [ODC Exhibit 1 Bates 3] This was not a request for a copy of the client file, but a relinquishment of such based upon the lawyer/client relationship ending. After speaking with Ms. Rucker, I was told that complainant wanted me to continue to represent him, as such, Respondent did not relinquish the file at that time.

On December 6, 2018 Respondent received an ethics complain purported to have been filed by complainant herein. Respondent informed Ms. Rucker at the time that he did not feel he should continue to represent complainant with a complaint pending. Ms. Rucker assured Respondent that complainant wanted him to continue representation and that someone at the facility where complainant was housed had filed the complaint and complainant signed the same not fully realizing what it was. Respondent believes this is the person Ms. Rucker referred to as the "law master – or the guy out to St. Mary's." [Transcript 24] Based upon those representations, Respondent continued to represent complainant. Respondent filed an answer to said complaint in January 2019.

During this period of time, complainant's health was becoming worse. In discussions with Ms. Rucker, the Motion for Compassionate Release needed to be filed when complainant's health issues peaked in order to make the best argument. The Motion was filed on April 10, 2019 at a time when complainant was suffering from AFib, congestive heart failure, and lung cancer, in which he had recently started chemotherapy.

On April 11, 2019 the Honorable Judge Jack Alsop denied the aforementioned Motion without a hearing. In said Order, he had stated that a prior Motion for Reconsideration had been denied, which it was not. Therefore, on June 30, 2019, Judge Alsop issued an amended Order denying said Motion and clarifying that a prior Motion to Reconsider had not been filed.

The Court noted in the amended order that "this court is of the opinion that the sentence imposed herein is in the proper administration of justice." Thus confirming the opinion of Respondent that a Motion to Reconsider the sentence would not have been successful months prior.

On July 1, 2019, Disciplinary Counsel inquired of Respondent if he had a signed retainer agreement with complainant. Respondent did recall a retainer agreement, employment contract,

but could not locate the same. Respondent asserted that at the time of the agreement, complainant was hospitalized. Respondent gave the agreement to Ms. Rucker to get complainant's signature. Respondent delivered to Disciplinary Counsel a blank form agreement that he uses in all retained cases.

The Hearing Panel Subcommittee found that Respondent violated Rules 1.3 and 8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct by failing to file a Motion to Reconsider and a Motion for the Return of Property. That Respondent violated Rule 1.4 by failing to communicate with complainant. That the Respondent violated Rule 1.5(b) by not having a retainer agreement with complainant. Lastly, Rule 8.1(b) by failing to respond timely to ODC.

DISCUSSION

RULE 1.3 DILIGENCE

Rule 1.3 of the Rules of Professional Conduct states "a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client." In the instant case, Respondent acted with diligence and promptness. After noting the demeanor of the Court at sentencing, and discussing the matter with Ms. Rucker, the decision was jointly made to file a Motion for Compassionate Release rather than a Motion to Reconsider the Sentence under Rule 35(b) of the Rules of Criminal Procedure. Although Motion to Reconsider was discussed, the formal request in writing was outside the 120 day deadline. Additionally, the Motion for the Return of Property was not ripe in that the state was still investigating possible criminal conduct involving the seized electronic items. Respondent did file the Motion for Compassionate Release when complainant started his chemotherapy, noting that complainant's medical conditions had escalated.

Rule 8.4 Misconduct

Rule 8.4 states "It is professional misconduct for a lawyer to engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice." Respondent asserts that based upon his twenty-eight years of experience, the demeanor of the judge, and the seriousness of the offenses, a Motion to Reconsider would not have been successful and, would therefore, have been a waste of Court time and resources. The Court noted in its June 30, 2019 Order that the "sentence previously imposed was in the fair administration of justice." [ODC Exhibit 15 Bates 194] Thus, confirming the opinion of Respondent. The matter can not be prejudicial to the administration of justice when the Court has already ruled it is in the fair administration of justice.

With regard to the Motion for the Return of Property, Respondent had confirmation that the seized items were still the subject of an investigation. Thus, any Motion for the return of said items would have to wait until said investigation was complete. To do otherwise would be to file a frivolous motion which would be a waste of Court time and resources.

RULE 1.4 Communication

Rule 1.4 states in part "(a) a lawyer shall: (1) promptly inform the client of any decision or circumstance with respect to which the client's informed consent, as defined in Rule 1.0(e), is required by these Rules; (2) reasonably consult with the client about the means by which the client's objectives are to be accomplished; (3) keep the client reasonably informed about the status of the matter; (4) promptly comply with reasonable requests for information; and (5) consult with the client about any relevant limitation on the lawyer's conduct when the lawyer knows that the client expects assistance not permitted by the Rules of Professional Conduct or other law. (b) A lawyer shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary t permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the representation."

The findings of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee found that the Respondent failed to communicate with the Complainant about the Motion to Reconsider in violation of Rule 1.4. In the matter, Respondent did communicate with Ms. Rucker, with complainant's permission.

Given that complainant was hospitalized during much of the time that the matter was pending, was in an induced coma, and was in a hospital setting while housed by the Department of Corrections at St. Marys Correctional Facility. Respondent communicated through Ms. Rucker that the Motion to Reconsider, in Respondent's opinion, would not be successful. Additionally, it was Ms. Rucker who did additional research and suggested a Motion for Compassionate Release as an alternative to the Motion to Reconsider under Rule 35(b). Both complainant and Ms. Rucker testified before the Hearing Panel Subcommittee that post sentencing communication was done through Ms. Rucker with permission of complainant.

The matter below was not ordinary given that throughout much of the case, complainant was hospitalized, in a coma, or in a hospital setting. The communication through Ms. Rucker was not the way communication is normally done in a case, but because of the circumstances, it was a legitimate alternative.

Rule 1.5 Fees

Rule 1.5 states in part "(b) The scope of the representation and the basis or rate of the fee and expenses for which the client will be responsible shall be communicated to the client in writing, before or within a reasonable time after commencing to the representation, except when the lawyer will charge a regularly represented client on the same basis or rate. Any changes in the basis or rate or the fee or expenses shall also be communicated to the client in writing."

Respondent asserts that there was a fee agreement/employment contract in the matter below. At the time of the employment, complainant was hospitalized at the Huntington hospital

burn unit, then later to St. Mary's Correctional Facility, and then to Huntington Health Rehab Center.

Respondent testified at the hearing before the Hearing Panel Subcommittee that he specifically remembered an employment contract that set forth his fee. [Transcript 96-97] The contract was drawn up and given to Ms. Rucker for signatures since complainant was in the hospital. Respondent does not have any independent recollection of Ms. Rucker bringing the signed contract back to him but assumed that she brought it to the office when he was not there. However, after a diligent search, Respondent was unable to locate the contract. To complicate the search, Respondent moved his office from Clay to Spencer, West Virginia in August through September 2019.

Respondent asserts herein that the actual contract would have been the best evidence herein of the existence of said contract, however, absent the actual document, Respondent's testimony should be considered in this matter. Further, Respondent's testimony should be given sufficient weight and credit, as opposed to the lack of memory of Ms. Rucker on the matter.

[Rule 601 Rules of Evidence]

Rule 8.1 Bar Admission and Disciplinary Matters

Rule 8.1 states in part "[A] lawyer...in connection with a disciplinary matter, shall not;

(a) knowingly make a false statement of material fact; or (b) ... knowingly fail to respond to a lawful demand for information from... disciplinary authoriy..."

Respondent asserts he did not violate Rule 8.1. The Report of the Hearing Panel Subcommittee sets forth in its Findings of Fact, Paragraph 7, Page 4, that complainant filed the ethics complaint herein on December 6, 2018. That although, said Findings fail to state when said complaint was served upon Respondent, Respondent filed his response January 14, 2019.

Further, found in paragraph 13, page 7, Respondent informed Disciplinary Counsel that a Motion for Compassionate release had been denied by the Court and that the complainant's file had been sent to complainant. On July 22, 2019, Disciplinary Counsel inquired of Respondent regarding a written fee agreement. (Paragraph 17., Page 8 of Findings.) Disciplinary Counsel asserted that Respondent failed to respond to said July 22, 2019 letter, so the letter was sent again by certified mail on August 27, 2019, to which Respondent signed for on August 30, 2019. Respondent responded on September 5, 2019. (Paragraph 20, Page 9 of Findings.)

Respondent at the hearing (pages 125 and 126, HPS transcript) did not recall receiving the July 22, 2019 letter, but recalls the August 27, 2019 certified letter and responded timely. Respondent did, however, note that he was in the process of moving his office from Clay to Spencer, West Virginia during August and September 2019 as a possible explanation for not getting said letter, but again, has no recollection of receiving said letter of July 22, 2019.

VI. CONCLUSION

The original ethics complaint in this matter complained that the client file was not relinquished pursuant to a written request made by letter dated October 23, 2018. A reading of the October 23, 2018 letter indicates that the author, purported to be complainant, did not request a copy of the client file, but instead wanted the file relinquished because the attorney/client relationship appeared to be ending. After talking to Ms. Rucker, the attorney/client relationship did not end, but continued in order to move the Court for a compassionate release due to health problems of complainant. Copies of items in said file were provided to Ms. Rucker, for complainant, as they came in. Therefore the request to relinquish the file pursuant to the attorney/client relationship ending did not occur until after the final order of the circuit court in

the matter below. Therefore, complainant's request for a relinquishment of his file was moot when Respondent continued to represent complainant.

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